Lucid nightmares: Lucid dreaming therapy for the treatment of idiopathic and posttraumatic

# nightmares

Justin Bergamini

Dr. Stephanie Wiebe

Faculty of Human Sciences

April 20<sup>th</sup>, 2022

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	3
Introduction	4
Features of Nightmares	5
Diagnostic Criteria	5
Content, Themes, & Emotions	6
Demographics & Prevalence	6
Impact on Wellbeing	10
Aetiology of Nightmares	12
Idiopathic & Posttraumatic Nightmares	16
Treatments	19
Pharmacological	19
Psychotherapeutic	20
Lucid Dreaming	22
History	23
Correlates	
Induction Techniques	26
Potential Risks	
Lucid Dreaming Therapy	29
Discussion	33
Clinical Implications	
Limitations & Future Research	
Conclusion	
References	

## Abstract

This paper will seek to synthesize the literature related to idiopathic and posttraumatic nightmares, lucid dreaming, and lucid dreaming therapy, to provide greater clarity to clinicians considering treating idiopathic and posttraumatic nightmares with lucid dreaming therapy. Nightmares are associated with many psychological disorders, more severe symptomology and increased risk of suicide and developing our understanding of nightmares and their respective treatments are of clinical importance. One such treatment is lucid dreaming therapy, the only treatment in which the individual actively alters the nightmare content while dreaming. Given the mixed findings of lucid dreaming therapy, questions remain whether it is an appropriate treatment for idiopathic and posttraumatic nightmares.

Keywords: nightmares, lucid dreaming, lucid dreaming therapy, PTSD

#### Introduction

Increased attention has been paid to mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic as uncertainty, lockdowns, loss, and illness contribute to an increase in mental illness (Hossain et al., 2020). This trend is present in the increased prevalence and frequency of nightmares during COVID-19 (Kennedy & Grandner, 2021; Kilius et al., 2021; Pesonen et al., 2020; Scarpelli et al., 2021). Nightmares are a parasomnia characterized by dysphoric dream content that generally occur during rapid eye movement (REM) sleep and generally result in awakening (American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2015; American Psychiatric Association, 2013b). Nightmares are typically classified into two subcategories: idiopathic nightmares (I-N) or posttraumatic nightmares (PT-N). The former refers to nightmares without a known cause and the latter refers to nightmares triggered by a traumatic event and featuring themes, imagery, or re-enactment of the trauma event(s) (Rosenzweig, 2018). PT-N tend to be more dysphoric than I-N (Rosenzweig, 2018). Nightmares occur in healthy populations (Li et al., 2010), but occur much more frequently in clinical populations (Levin & Fireman, 2002). Frequent nightmares (occurring once or more per week) is prevalent in roughly five percent of the population (Li et al., 2010). Nightmares are associated with many clinical conditions, such as major depressive disorder (MDD; Mume, 2009), generalized anxiety disorder (GAD; Nadorff et al., 2014), bi-polar disorder (Steardo et al., 2019), borderline personality disorder (BPD; Semiz et al., 2008), schizophrenia (Sheaves et al., 2015), and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD; Wittmann et al., 2007).

There is disagreement surrounding whether bad dreams and nightmares are qualitatively different phenomena or the same phenomena differing in intensity (Levin & Fireman, 2002). For this paper, bad dreams will fall under the nightmare category, as they share many of the same features, comorbidities, and are often used interchangeably in the research literature. Given the

negative association between nightmares and mental wellbeing, it is important that we continue to develop treatments. One such treatments is lucid dreaming therapy (LDT). Lucid dreaming is the state of being aware that one is dreaming (Schredl, 2018a). LDT teaches participants to induce lucid dreaming to alter dysphoric dream content into something more positive and constructive (de Macêdo et al., 2019).

### **Features of Nightmares**

#### **Diagnostic Criteria**

The International Classification of Sleep Disorders (ICSD) describes nightmares as typically being long, complicated dreams that become progressively more frightening, and result in the person waking (American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2015). However, there is ongoing debate regarding whether frightening dreams need to result in awakening to be categorized as nightmares (Robert & Zadra, 2014). This is exhibited in the change in diagnostic criteria for nightmare disorder (ND) from the DSM-4 and the DSM-5, with the former requiring awakening, and the latter no longer including this feature in the diagnostic criteria (American Psychiatric Association, 1994, 2013b). The dreamer will typically become lucid quickly after waking and will quickly be able to recall the dream content (Levin & Fireman, 2002).

The ICSD-3 states that anxiety and fear are the typical emotional feature of nightmares (American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2015). However, nightmares can also be associated with anger, embarrassment, disgust, and other negative feelings (American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2015). There continues to be debate surrounding the defining features of nightmares, regarding the emotional quality of dreams and whether the dysphoric dreams triggers immediate awakening (Spoormaker et al., 2006). Some argue that a nightmare must have a frightening quality, and must trigger awakening, and deem dysphoric dreams that are not terrifying and/or do not trigger awakening should instead be labelled bad dreams (Spoormaker et al., 2006).

Sleep terrors differ from nightmares in several ways. Sleep terrors typically occur during non-rapid eye movement sleep (NREM), involve greater motor activation, like talking, screaming, and moving of limbs and even walking (American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2015). And when the individual experiencing sleep terrors wakes up they will usually be confused and have no memory of any dream content (American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2015).

### **Content, Themes & Emotions**

Nightmares are often characterized by an imminent threat to personal safety (American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2015). Common themes in nightmares include being chased or attacked, and the feeling of helplessness (Robert & Zadra, 2014). The content of nightmares is influenced by the context of the individual experiencing the nightmare. Research analyzing the dream content of children found that imaginary creatures were frequent in children between the ages of seven and nine (American Psychiatric Association, 2013a). Whereas being kidnapped was most common in those between the age of 10 and 12 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013a). An analysis of dream content, with a sample made up of 50% students, found that themes of infidelity, humiliation and rejection were common (Robert & Zadra, 2014). The COVID-19 pandemic has also affected dream content. With nightmares becoming more frequent and the nightmare content increasingly containing themes of illness and disease (Kilius et al., 2021; Pesonen et al., 2020).

# **Demographics & Prevalence**

Roughly five percent of the population experience frequent nightmares (one or more per week) (Levin & Fireman, 2002; Li et al., 2010; Sandman et al., 2013; Schredl, 2010; Zadra & Donderi, 2000). Though there is some variance in the rate reported, depending on inclusion/exclusion criteria related to immediate waking and vivid recall. Nightmares are much more common in children. With 10-50% of children between the ages of three and six experiencing nightmares (American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2015). Research suggests that 50-60% of children between the age of five and ten experience frequent nightmares (Schredl et al., 2009). The onset of nightmares is typically gradual. Likewise, the frequency of nightmares will typically decrease gradually (Schredl et al., 2009). However, for a subgroup of children the frequency of nightmares does not decrease as they enter adolescence and adulthood. These individuals will often be lifelong sufferers of nightmares (American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2015). Experiencing frequent nightmares is highly heritable (Coolidge et al., 2010; Hublin et al., 1999). In a twin-cohort study, the variance in nightmare frequency was attribute 51% to heritability and 49% to non-shared environment (Coolidge et al., 2010). While another twin study showed a 35% of the variance in nightmare frequency was attributed to genetic factors (Hublin et al., 1999).

A meta-analysis of dream data from 187,000 participants found a large difference in nightmare frequency between men and women (Schredl & Reinhard, 2011). The prevalence of frequent nightmares is much higher among women. Levin and Nielsen suggested five potential sources of the gender differences in nightmare frequency. The first being self-report bias, as women have been shown to have higher dream recall than men (Schredl & Reinhard, 2008) and are more open to sharing painful emotional experiences (Hartmann, 1984). They also listed gender-specific risk factors such as sexual-assault, the underlying processes contributing to higher rates of depression in women, coping-style differences, and biological differences in emotional processes as potential sources of the higher frequency of nightmares among women.

A study that sought to determine the source of the gender disparity in nightmare frequency found that once you control for trait neuroticism, a personality trait higher in women, and for dream recall, there was no longer a statistically significant difference in nightmare frequency between men and women (Schredl, 2014). A study assessing the association between nightmares and masculine and feminine sex roles found that masculinity was negatively correlated with nightmare frequency in both men and women and femininity was positively correlated with nightmare frequency in both men and women (Schredl & Göritz, 2021). These findings suggest that the gender difference in nightmare frequency is at least, in part, influenced by social factors.

While frequent nightmares are present in about five percent of non-clinical populations (Li et al., 2010; Sandman et al., 2013), they are much more prevalent in clinical populations (Levin & Nielsen, 2007). With 30% percent of clinical populations experiencing frequent nightmares (Swart et al., 2013). A cross-sectional study with a sample of 8558 participants found that the risk for psychiatric disorder was 5.74 greater for those experiencing frequent nightmares (Li et al., 2010).

Nightmares are more prevalent among individuals diagnosed with MDD, than the general population (Mume, 2009). Research by Mume found that 16.7% of participants with MDD experienced frequent nightmares (2009). More than three times the rate of the healthy control group. The presence of nightmares in individuals with MDD is associated with greater risk of suicide (Ağargün et al., 1998; Hedström et al., 2021). Nightmares are more common in individuals with MDD with melancholic features (Agargun et al., 2007; Besiroglu et al., 2005).

8

Many studies show a strong association between anxiety and nightmares (Levin & Fireman, 2002; Nadorff et al., 2014; T. A. Nielsen et al., 2000; Zadra & Donderi, 2000). GAD is one of the most common anxiety disorders, and is characterized by excessive worry (American Psychiatric Association, 2013a). Sleep disturbances are also a common symptom of GAD (Nadorff et al., 2014). In a study of older adults with GAD, nightmare frequency was correlated with more severe symptomology, lower quality of life, poorer overall mental health, and higher levels of depression (Nadorff et al., 2014). The study found that 21.6% of older adults with GAD experienced frequent nightmares. A rate five times higher than those of healthy older adults (Salvio et al., 1992). Individuals tend to report higher levels of anxiety, stress, arousal and lower confidence and contentment the day after a nightmare (Köthe & Pietrowsky, 2001).

A study featuring 30 participants with dissociative disorder, found that 57% met a the diagnostic criteria for ND and that those suffering from ND were more likely to engage in selfmutilation, have attempted suicide in the past year, and were more likely to have a comorbidity of BPD (Agargun et al., 2003).

Nightmares are a common comorbidity of BPD (Claridge et al., 1998; Semiz et al., 2008). Research by Semiz and colleagues found that nightmares were much more common in the BPD group than in the healthy control group (2008). They also found that those in the BPD group with ND exhibited greater psychopathology than those in the group without ND. A study examining the relationship between emotional cascades, a process whereby rumination on negative affect increases emotional intensity, and nightmares in individuals with BPD found that emotional cascading increased the likelihood of having a nightmare that evening (Selby et al., 2013). They also found that the day after a nightmare, participants were at higher risk of

emotional cascading. These findings point to a bi-directional relationship between emotional dysregulation and nightmare frequency.

There is preliminary evidence suggesting a shared etiology between psychotic symptoms and frequent nightmares (Koffel & Watson, 2009; Sheaves et al., 2015). Frequent nightmares are a common feature of schizophrenia and other psychosis-related disorders. One study found 55% of individuals with psychotic symptoms experienced frequent nightmares (Sheaves et al., 2015). The study also found distressing nightmares were associated with more severe psychosis and delusions. Frequent nightmares in childhood increase the risk of psychotic experiences in adolescence (H. L. Fisher et al., 2014). In a healthy student sample, nightmare distress was predictive of paranoia and psychoticism (Levin & Fireman, 2002).

One of the diagnostic criteria of PTSD is the presence of cognitive intrusions related to the traumatic event(s) (American Psychiatric Association, 2013a). These can take the form of intrusive imagery, flashbacks, and/or nightmares (American Psychiatric Association, 2013a). A theoretical review of the disorder went as far as to call PT-N a hallmark of the disorder (Ross et al., 1989). The presence of frequent nightmares prior to a traumatic event increases the risk of developing PTSD (Ohayon & Shapiro, 2000). Roughly 80% of individuals with PTSD experience nightmares (Morgenthaler et al., 2018).

### **Impact on Wellbeing**

There are conflicting data on the impact of nightmares on sleep architecture. A 2015 study using polysomnographic data found little difference in sleep architecture in nightmare sufferers compared to healthy control group (Paul et al.). Whereas, a 2012 polysomnographic study found that nightmare sufferers experienced altered sleep architecture (Simor et al.). This

#### LUCID DREAMING THERAPY FOR NIGHTMARES

was characterized by reduced sleep efficiency and slow wave sleep and increased nocturnal awakenings and sleep latency. Polysomnographic research on nightmares has proven challenging. As nightmares tend to occur less frequently in the context of a sleep laboratory (Woodward et al., 2000) and lower levels of distress are attributed to nightmares experienced in a sleep laboratory (Domhoff & Kamiya, 1964; Weisz & Foulkes, 1970).

Subjectively nightmare sufferers self-report lower quality sleep and daytime wakefulness (Lancee, Spoormaker, et al., 2010; Paul et al., 2015). The lower subjective appraisal of sleep quality are thought to be the result of prolonged sleep latency following a nightmare awakening and worry that the nightmare will return once they fall back to sleep (Paul et al., 2015). Research by Kothe and Pietrowsky, in a sample of 41 people without psychiatric diagnoses who experience occasional nightmares, found that 48.9% of participants had trouble falling back asleep after waking from a nightmare (2001). Fifty-seven percent of participants reported the sleep following the nightmare as "restless and uncomfortable" (pp.46-47), and 58% reported feeling tired the following day.

There is ample evidence that suggests a positive relationship between nightmare frequency and suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, and self-harm (Nadorff et al., 2011; Nadorff et al., 2013; Sandman et al., 2017; Sjöström et al., 2009; Tanskanen et al., 2001). Of note, one study found no relationship between nightmares and suicidality in both depressed and nondepressed samples (Hedström et al., 2021). Research examining the relationship between nightmares and suicidality found that the duration of the presence of nightmares had a significant influence on suicidality (R. Nadorff et al., 2013). Individuals suffering nightmares over longer periods of time were at significantly higher risk for suicide. This relationship was present even after controlling for present nightmare frequency, symptoms of anxiety, depression, and PTSD. A study of previous suicide attempters, found the presence of nightmares led to a four-fold increase in the risk of future suicide attempts over a two-year period (Sjöström et al., 2009). Nightmares are thought to be a unique predictor and risk factor of suicide (Bernert et al., 2015). As the relationship between suicide and nightmares is present even after controlling for other suicide risk factors, such as anxiety, depression, substance use disorder, and sleep disturbances (Bernert et al., 2015; Nadorff et al., 2016; Sjöström et al., 2007).

Researchers have begun examining what it is about nightmares that causes this increase in suicidality. A study of individuals experiencing PT-N found that perceptions of hopelessness, defeat, and entrapment played a strong mediating role in the relationship between nightmares and suicidality (Littlewood et al., 2016). Research has shown that both nightmare frequency and nightmare distress have a positive association with suicidality, and that nightmare distress mediated the relationship between nightmare frequency and suicidal ideation (Lee & Suh, 2016). Of note, research by Cogan and colleagues did not find a relationship between nightmare frequency and distress and suicidal ideation, after controlling for depressive and PTSD symptoms (Cogan et al., 2019). A study conducted with a sample of individuals admitted to hospital following a suicide attempt, found that 90% were experiencing sleep disturbances, and that of the various sleep disturbances measured, nightmares were most strongly associated with suicidality (Sjöström et al., 2007). Those experiencing nightmares were more likely to experience suicidal thoughts, wish to die, and have suicidal actions. Nightmares are also associated with self-harming behaviours (Ennis et al., 2017; Singareddy et al., 2013).

### **Actiology of Nightmares**

While there is no consensus surrounding the aetiology of nightmares, a diathesis-stress model is widely used in the study of nightmares (Schredl, 2018b). This model asserts that

nightmares stem from an interaction between psycho-physiological vulnerabilities and external stressors (Salomon & Jin, 2020). The study of the origin of nightmares has long been influenced by the psychoanalytic and psychodynamic tradition – originating with Sigmund Freud's *The Interpretation of Dreams*. Freud believed that the repressive capacity of the super-ego were diminished during sleep and that as a result, the subconscious content of the Id would be made conscious, in the form of dreams (Nielsen & Levin, 2007b). He believed that dreams served a wish fulfilment purpose and that nightmares are dreams with a masochistic variation (Nielsen & Levin, 2007b).

Other psychodynamic models of nightmare formation include that of Jones, who argued the following of nightmares "The intensity of the fear is proportionate to the guilt of the repressed incestuous wishes that are striving for imaginary gratification" (1931, p.343). Jung argued that dreams are the manifestation of unresolved psychological conflicts and that nightmares are symbolic representations of one's shadow (2012). Other psychodynamic models of dreams assert that nightmares are the result of failure to master traumatic experiences (Greenberg et al., 2017) or the transformation of shame into fear (Lansky, 1995). Some of the assertions of the psychoanalytic models of nightmare formation are difficult to study empirically. Though there is evidence that supports some of their claims (Nielsen & Levin, 2007b). The tenets of these models have influenced contemporary models of nightmare formation and in some cases have had their tenets integrated into the newer models (Nielsen & Levin, 2007b).

Hartman developed a personality model of nightmare formation, related to the personality component of boundary permeability (1984). This aspect of personality is characterized by the degree to which emotional and cognitive content can be made conscious and a permeability between oneself and others (Hartmann, 1984; T. Nielsen & Levin, 2007). He argued nightmares

stem from thin psychological boundaries. A later model of nightmare formation developed by Hartman centered around image contextualization (1996). Asserting that dreams stem from an adaptive emotional processing function. Whereby dreams are made up of images that contextualize an individual's emotional concerns. Nightmares are thought to be the contextualizing images of intense or distressing emotions (Hartmann, 1996).

Research on the relationship between nightmares and big five personality factors found that nightmare frequency was correlated with trait neuroticism (Schredl & Göritz, 2017). Neuroticism is the personality disposition to experience negative affect (Widiger & Oltmanns, 2017). While trait neuroticism and nightmares are highly heritable (Nivard et al., 2015; Vukasović & Bratko, 2015) (Coolidge et al., 2010; Hublin et al., 1999), and are associated with one another, a twin-cohort study found no genetic connection between childhood anxiety and nightmares (Coolidge et al., 2010).

The threat simulation model of nightmare formation explains the origins of nightmares from an evolutionary perspective. It asserts that nightmares serve an adaptive function of playing out dangerous and threatening scenarios in the relative safety of the mind, so as to increase the likelihood of successfully navigating these situations in the real world (Revonsuo, 2000). Thereby increasing the fitness of the individual nightmare sufferer. While most of the modern models of nightmare formation rest on the assumption that dreams are adaptive and nightmares are the breakdown of adaptive processes, the threat simulation model operates on the assumption that nightmares are adaptive (Revonsuo, 2000). While there is evidence that nightmares are genetically-heritable (Coolidge et al., 2010), the evidence does not support the theory that nightmares infer benefits in terms of managing potentially dangerous situations. As research has shown that the presence of nightmares prior to experiencing a traumatic event increases the likelihood of developing PTSD (Ohayon & Shapiro, 2000).

The REM sleep desomatization model of nightmare formation stems from research by Fischer and colleagues, that found very low levels of autonomic arousal during REM sleep nightmares (1970). It was theorized that the neurophysiological conditions present during REM sleep allow intense emotional experiences to be processed and de-coupled from their somatic qualities (Nielsen & Levin, 2007b). Another neurophysiological model of nightmare formation is that of mood regulation. This model asserts that dreams serve the adaptive function of processing emotions and that nightmares are the result of the capacity for emotions to become assimilated being surpassed (Kramer, 1991).

Levin and Nielson theorized that individuals with high affect distress will manifest this trait in higher emotionality in both waking life and in dream content (2007). Levin and Nielson developed a comprehensive neurobiological model of nightmares, which integrated many of the tenets of past models (2007b). The affect network dysfunction model of nightmare production. The model synthesizes a cognitive and neurobiological approach. They use data from neuroimaging, heart rate, and emotional processing as the basis of the model. They argue nightmare formation is the result of dysfunction in the affect network of the brain – the amygdala, hippocampus, medial prefrontal cortex, and anterior cingulated cortex. The areas of the brain responsible for fear extinction during regular dreaming (Nielsen & Levin, 2007). On a cognitive level, they assert that dreams serve the purpose of fear extinction by pairing fear memories with novel contexts and non-frightening stimuli. For individuals with high affect distress, this process becomes disrupted and results in the formation of nightmares (Nielsen & Levin, 2007).

#### **Idiopathic & Posttraumatic Nightmares**

The study of nightmares is often split into two distinct streams – idiopathic nightmares (I-N) and posttraumatic nightmares (PT-N) (Hasler & Germain, 2009). It is difficult to determine what percentage of frequent nightmare sufferers fall under either category, as studies related to the prevalence of frequent nightmares tend not to differentiate between the two (American Psychiatric Association, 2013b). I-N refers to nightmares in which the etiological origin is unknown. When I-Ns reach certain diagnostic criteria set out in the Diagnostic and Statistic Manual of Mental Disorders-5, a diagnosis for ND is warranted. These diagnostic criteria are as follows: 1) Repeated, well-remembered, extremely dysphoric nightmares, that usually involve perceived threats to safety, and generally occur during second have of the sleep episode; 2) On awakening from the dysphoric dream, person becomes rapidly oriented and alert; 3) The sleep disturbances cause significant disturbances to life functioning; 4) Nightmares are not attributed to the effects of substance use or medication; 5) Coexisting medical or mental disorders do not adequately explain the presence of nightmares (American Psychiatric Association, 2013b).

As nightmares are a common comorbid of other psychological disorders, it is believed ND is under-diagnosed and under treated (Nadorff et al., 2015; Schredl, 2010). One study found that 62% percent of individuals with clinically significant nightmares did not discuss their nightmares with medical providers and 67% believed nightmares were not a treatable condition (Schredl, 2010). These findings, paired with our understanding of the significant detriment health impact of nightmares, highlight the need for clinicians to proactively screen for nightmares when working with clients.

PT-N, sometimes referred to as PTSD-related nightmares or trauma-related nightmares, are nightmares with an onset triggered by a traumatic event, containing trauma-related imagery,

themes or re-enactments (Hasler & Germain, 2009; Levin & Nielsen, 2007; Spoormaker et al., 2006). While many of the individuals suffering from PT-N have PTSD, some would not qualify for a full PTSD diagnosis (Spoormaker et al., 2006). One of the key characteristics of PTSD is the presence of cognitive intrusions (American Psychiatric Association, 2013a). The intrusions can take the form of flashbacks of the traumatic event or PT-N, in which the individual has dream content consistent with the traumatic event (American Psychiatric Association, 2013b). The prevalence of nightmares among individuals with PTSD is roughly 60-80% (Levin & Nielsen, 2007; Spoormaker et al., 2006; Swart et al., 2013). A study of war-related PTSD participants found that 56% still experienced nightmares 40 years after the traumatic event (Schreuder et al., 2000). Similarly a study of World War II prisoners of war found 47% still experienced nightmares about their experiences as POWs, 65 years later (Rintamaki et al., 2009). Suggesting a high degree in nightmare persistence in the absence of treatment.

Changes in dream content tend to occur during the acute stage following a traumatic incident or event (Mellman & Pigeon, 2011). An analysis of dream content following a major hurricane in Hawaii was compared to that of a pre-hurricane sample and found that dreams contained more stress-related themes than the pre-hurricane sample (74% versus 48%) (Pagel et al., 1995). While only 13% of the post-hurricane sample experienced dream content specifically related to the hurricane. These findings suggest that traumatic events will impact content of dreams, without necessarily invoking trauma re-enactment nightmares. Research examining dream content following a traumatic event found that those who experience PT-N are more likely to develop PTSD and had more severe symptomology than those who do not experience PT-N (Mellman et al., 2001).

PT-N can be classified as follows, posttraumatic nightmares: dream content associated with a trauma by the dreamer; replicative/re-enactment nightmares: dream content is a strict replication of the original traumatic event; mixed: dream content is partially similar to the traumatic event; non-replicative/symbolic: dream content is not a realistic account of but refers to the traumatic event (Wittmann et al., 2007, p. 30). Wittmann and colleagues conducted an analysis of several studies and found roughly 50% of traumatized participants experienced exact re-enactment nightmares (2007). Nightmares that depict an exact re-enactment of the traumatic event tend to become re-occurring (Schreuder et al., 1998).

Beyond the trauma reexperiencing component of PT-N, a major difference between I-N and PT-N is that the latter is much more likely to occur during non-REM sleep. One study found 57% of participants with PTSD experience nightmares outside of REM sleep (Woodward & Arsenault, 2000). An explanation for this marked difference between I-N and PT-N can be made from our understanding of PTSD. PTSD sufferers will often experience trauma-related cognitive intrusions during waking life, triggered by cues that remind them of the traumatic event (Wittmann et al., 2007). Traumatic events are stored in our episodic memory and a meta-analysis showed that episodic memories are processed significantly more frequently in NREM sleep (Baylor & Cavalerro, 2001). It is believed that the episodic trauma memories being processed during NREM act as triggers for the PT-N (Wittmann et al., 2007).

Like I-N, PT-N impact objective and subjective measures of sleep quality (Spoormaker et al., 2006; Wittman & de Dassel, 2015). PT-N frequency is associated with poorer sleep efficiency, increased nocturnal awakenings and lower total sleep time (Wittman & de Dassel, 2015). A study made up of Cambodian refugees found 52% took one to two hours to fall back asleep following a nightmare (Hinton et al., 2009). While 31% were unable to fall asleep again

that night. Nocturnal awakenings are more common among those suffering from PT-N than I-N (Germain & Nielsen, 2003).

#### Treatments

There are many treatments for nightmares. Some treatments are effective in treating both I-N and PT-N. While others have only been studied in the context of one of the manifestations of nightmares. These include pharmacological and psychotherapeutic treatments.

#### Pharmacological

Prazosin, an Alpha-1 Blocker, used primarily for the treatment of high blood pressure and benign prostate hyperplasia, is the most prominent medication used in the treatment of nightmares (Aurora et al., 2010; Morgenthaler et al., 2018). It is believed that the efficacy of the drug is derived from its downregulation of areas of the sympathetic nervous system typically active during nightmares (Aurora et al., 2010). Prazosin has been shown to be an effective treatment for PT-Ns in at least ten clinical studies (Boehnlein & Kinzie, 2007; Boynton et al., 2009; Daly et al., 2005, 2005; Germain et al., 2012; Peskind et al., 2003; Raskind et al., 2000, 2003, 2007, 2013; Taylor & Raskind, 2002; Yager, 2013). These studies have shown a reduction in nightmare frequency and distress. In 2010 the American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM) listed Prazosin as a level A (recommended) treatment for PT-N (Aurora et al., 2010). In the follow-up position paper, they downgraded Prazosin to a level B treatment (may be used) (Morgenthaler et al., 2018). The downgrading was based on their analysis of a recent study with contradictory findings. The study of 304 participants with PTSD, found Prazosin to be no more effective than placebo (Raskind et al., 2018). While there are no studies regarding the use of Prazosin in the treatment of I-N, the AASM listed it as a potential treatment in their 2018

position paper. Though the AASM did not list it as a recommended treatment (Morgenthaler et al., 2018).

The AASM included no pharmacological treatments in their recommended treatments section of their 2018 position paper. However, they did include several in the *may be used* section. Along with Prazosin, they listed the following medications as potential treatments for PT-N: the atypical antipsychotics Olanzapine, Risperidone and Aripiprazole; Clonidine, Cyproheptadine, Fluvoxamine, Gabapentin, Nabilone, Phenelzine, Topiramate, Trazodone, and tricyclic antidepressants (Morgenthaler et al., 2018). Regarding I-N, AAMS listed Prazosin, Nitrazepam, and Triazolam as potential drug treatments. The latter two are benzodiazepine hypnotics. The AASM judgment is based on a study that found both benzodiazepine hypnotics to be effective in reducing unpleasant dreams (Ellingsen, 1983; Morgenthaler et al., 2018).

#### **Psychotherapeutic**

Imagery rehearsal therapy (IRT) is the psychotherapeutic intervention for nightmares with the largest body of empirical support. It was listed as recommended treatment for ND by the Oxford Centre for Evidence Based Medicine (Cranston et al., 2011) and the AASM (Morgenthaler et al., 2018). IRT involves having the nightmare sufferer re-script their nightmare content into something neutral or positive. They are then tasked with imagining the newly formed dream content in waking life, multiple times per day (Pagel, 2021). IRT is often paired with other therapeutic modalities, such as pre-sleep relaxation, sleep diaries, and psychoeducation. As the individual is asked to imagine their nightmare as they re-script it, there could potentially be benefits derived from exposure. IRT has been shown to decrease nightmare frequency and distress, improve sleep quality, and reduce PTSD symptoms (Casement & Swanson, 2012; Harb et al., 2012; B. Krakow et al., 2000, 2001; B. Krakow & Zadra, 2006; Lancee, Bout, et al., 2010; Lu et al., 2009).

The earliest approach used to directly treat nightmares is desensitization and exposure therapy (Gieselmann et al., 2019). This therapy involves vividly imagining nightmare content while engaging in relaxation techniques. Overtime, the imaginal exposure is conducted without the accompanying relaxation techniques. Desensitization and exposure therapy has been shown to be effective in the treatment of nightmares (Davis & Wright, 2007). Another form of exposure therapy for nightmares is exposure, relaxation, and rescripting therapy (ERRT). ERRT combines the exposure elements of traditional exposure and desensitization therapy with the rescripting elements of IRT. There have been several randomized control trials (RCT) showing ERRT to be an effective treatment for both I-N and PT-N (Cogan et al., 2019; Davis et al., 2011; Davis & Wright, 2007; Pruiksma et al., 2018).

Psychotherapeutic treatments for nightmares with limited empirical support include eye movement desensitization and reprocessing therapy (EMDR), sleep dynamic therapy, progressive deep muscle relaxation, hypnosis, and lucid dreaming therapy (LDT). While there are no RCTs assessing the efficacy of EMDR in the treatment of nightmares, a series of cases of 83 Vietnam War Veterans with PTSD found EMDR to be effective in reducing PT-N frequency (Silver et al., 1995). Sleep dynamic therapy is an integrative treatment for disturbed sleep, involving psychoeducation, cognitive behavioural therapy, emotional processing and IRT. A single study of 66 trauma exposed individuals found a significant reduction in nightmares after completion of treatment and at the 12-week follow-up (B. J. Krakow et al., 2002). Progressive deep muscle relaxation, a therapeutic technique often used in the treatment of anxiety (Liu et al., 2020) and insomnia (Alexandru et al., 2009), involves the tensing and relaxing of one body part at a time. A study of 32 female nightmare sufferers compared the efficacy of progressive deep muscle relaxation and systemic desensitization (Miller & DiPilato, 1983). At completion of the study, both interventions were equally effective in reducing nightmare frequency. At follow-up the systemic desensitization group were experiencing better results.

There are several case studies employing hypnosis as a treatment for nightmares. A case report study of 36 participants suffering from parasomnias, ten of whom were experiencing nightmares, underwent one 50-minute hypnosis session (Hauri et al., 2007). Seventy-one percent experienced improved symptoms at the 18-month follow-up and 67% maintained these benefits at the five-year follow-up. Another case study of three nightmare sufferers found hypnosis to be beneficial in all three cases (Kingsbury, 1993). A case study of a 28 year old suffering from recurrent nightmares for nine years underwent hypnotherapy, and experienced a complete cessation of nightmares (Seif, 1985). Another case study of a 24 year old parolee suffering from PT-N was taught self-hypnosis in the context of psychotherapy and experienced a reduction in nightmare frequency (Donatone, 2006). A case study of a nine year old girl who was experiencing, what was believed to be nightmares originating from the devil, underwent spiritually integrated hypnotherapy and experienced a reduction in nightmare frequency (Pelling & Gee, 2016).

#### Lucid Dreaming

The most basic definition of lucid dreaming is being aware that one is dreaming (Schredl, 2018a). Additional features of lucid dreaming include the ability to deliberately wake oneself from the dream, to direct one's actions, to control external dream content, and remember waking life (Schredl, 2018a). Lucid dreaming can occur spontaneously or through deliberate induction. A meta-analysis found that 55% of individuals have experienced a lucid dream at some point in

their lives (Saunders et al., 2016). When this was assessed in a student sample, the incidence of lucid dreaming was 80% (Saunders et al., 2016). These findings suggests that the capacity for lucid dreaming is widespread. The same study found that 21% of people experience frequent lucid dreams. Lucid dreaming is not a binary of being lucid while dreaming or not. There appears to be degrees of lucidity while dreaming. A study asking participants to rate the following statement "I was aware that I was dreaming" (0=not at all, 1= just a little, 2= moderately, 3= pretty much, 4=very much) found that 51% of dreams were reported as having at least some lucidity (Dyck et al., 2017). Though research of this nature leads to potential issues surrounding recall bias or participants wanting to satisfy the experimenter. In untrained lucid dreamers, lucidity is typically the result of the dreamer noticing a dreamlike sense (67%), noticing something incongruent with the nature of waking life (19%), and the remaining cases lucidity was preceded by a nightmare (Gackenbach, 2010).

#### History

There are many historical references to the phenomena of lucid dreaming. Aristotle wrote the following about dreaming, "when one is asleep, there is something in consciousness which declares that what then presents itself is but a dream" (Laberge, 1998, p13). The cultivation of an awareness that one is dreaming is present in the Hindu and Buddhist perspective (Kuan, 2007). This practice is known as Yoga Nidra. Another example of lucid dreaming in antiquity is St. Augustine of Hippo's description of the lucid dreams of a local physician (Laberge, 1998). Likewise, reports of lucid dreaming can be found in the Islamic tradition. A 12th century Sufi cleric described the practice of controlling one's dreams (Laberge, 1998). Dutch psychiatrist Frederick van Eeden is credited with coining the term lucid dreaming and being the first person to seriously study the phenomena (Laberge, 1998). Despite historical descriptions and subjective reports of lucid dreaming going back more than a thousand years (Schredl, 2018a), it wasn't until the 1970s that we obtained empirical support for the phenomena. Lucid dreaming was measured independently by two researchers (Hearne, 1978; Laberge, 1980). At the time there was ongoing speculation that what people thought was lucid dreaming was actually moments of wakefulness occurring throughout the night (Schredl, 2018a). During REM sleep the only part of the body capable of movement is the eyes. As such, researchers had lucid dreamers agree to engage in a series of deliberate eye movements once lucid dreaming had been induced. The researchers used electrooculogram recordings to measure the eye movements and electroencephalogram and electromyogram to ensure the participants were sleeping. In the studies, the lucid dreamers were able to carry out the specified eye movements. Which were distinct from the typical eye movements occurring during REM sleep (Hearne, 1978; Laberge, 1980).

## Correlates

Meta-cognition refers to the ability to reflect on one's own mental states (Schooler, 2002). It has been hypothesized that lucid dreaming is a form of meta-cognition. REM sleep is associated with reduced activity in the dorsolateral prefrontal and frontopolar cortices (Hobson & Pace-Schott, 2002), two areas of the brain involved in meta-cognition. Research by Voss and colleagues found that brain activity during lucid dreaming is a hybrid between that typically observed during sleep and wakefulness (Voss et al., 2009). Similarly, neuroimaging research found increased activity in areas of the pre-frontal cortex associated with higher cognition during lucid dreaming in REM sleep (Dresler et al., 2012). A study examining the neural correlates of meta-cognition and lucid dreaming found that frequent lucid dreamers have greater volume of grey matter in the Brodman area 9/10 of the frontal cortex (Filevich et al., 2015). They also

found a relationship between capacity for meta-cognition and lucid dreaming. Another cognitive correlate of lucid dreaming is insight. Insight refers to the propensity for obtaining a clear and sudden understanding of how to reach a problem's solution (Bourke & Shaw, 2014). Frequent lucid dreamers scored higher in compound remote association tests (Bourke & Shaw, 2014). A test designed to measure insight.

In terms of personality, lucid dreaming frequency is associated with the personality trait of openness, neuroticism, and disagreeableness (Hess et al., 2017). Lucid dreaming is associated with nightmare frequency (Hess et al., 2017). This is may be the result of nightmares often inducing lucid dreaming, as the frightening dream content triggers the realization that one is dreaming (Gackenbach, 2010). Lucid dreaming is also associated with the personality feature of internal locus of control (Blagrove & Hartnell, 2000; Patrick & Durndell, 2004). Research shows that an individual's capacity for dream recall is correlated with successful lucid dreaming following a lucid dreaming induction intervention (Aspy, 2020). Individuals suffering from narcolepsy experienced higher rates of spontaneous lucid dreaming than healthy populations (Dodet et al., 2015; Rak et al., 2015).

The reasons an individual will chose to induce lucid dreaming vary substantially. A study of 328 lucid dreamers found that wish-fulfillment was the most common motivation for lucid dreaming (Stumbrys & Erlacher, 2016). With 40% of participants citing wish-fulfillment as their reason for lucid dreaming. This was followed by solving waking problems, overcoming fears/nightmares, spiritual experiences, physical/mental healing, training motor skills, and meditation (Stumbrys & Erlacher, 2016). These findings support evidence from previous studies indicating that having fun and wish-fulfillment are the primary reasons people chose to induce lucid dreaming (Schädlich & Erlacher, 2012). Acting out sexual fantasies and flying are two of

the most common activities people take part in during deliberate lucid dreaming (Stumbrys et al., 2014). Novice lucid dreamers often report becoming excited when lucid dreaming is induced and the subsequent emotional arousal leading them to wake up. As a result, deliberate lucid dreamers will often practice emotional modulation while lucid dreaming (Hoss et al., 2019).

There is evidence that motor skills can be developed during lucid dreaming (Erlacher & Schredl, 2010; Schädlich et al., 2017; Stumbrys et al., 2016). One study had participants tap a specific sequence with there fingers while lucid dreaming and found that they performed significantly better during waking than the control group (Stumbrys et al., 2016). These findings aligns with those of a pilot study, in which participants were asked to practice throwing coins into a cup while lucid dreaming and while awake (Erlacher & Schredl, 2010). Lucid dreaming training was also found to improve performance in throwing darts (Schädlich et al., 2017).

# **Induction Techniques**

There are several techniques used to increase the likelihood of inducing lucid dreams. A systemic review of lucid dreaming induction techniques has been conducted (Stumbrys et al., 2012). The authors of the review classified the techniques into three categories: cognitive, external stimulation, and miscellaneous techniques (Stumbrys et al., 2012). Cognitive techniques include mnemonic induction of lucid dreaming (MILD), reality testing (RT), senses initiated lucid dreaming (SSILD), and hypnosis. This list is not exhaustive, but simply covers some of the more popular and research-supported techniques. MILD involves rehearsing a dream scenario before falling asleep, visualizing and holding the intention of becoming lucid during the next dream (Stumbrys et al., 2012). MILD is often paired with a wake-up-back-to-bed protocol (WBTB). RT involves regularly testing whether one is dreaming or awake by looking for features inconsistent with waking reality. The assumption is that once this practice becomes

habit, it will be done while dreaming and trigger lucid dreaming (Stumbrys et al., 2012). SSILD involves repeatedly shifting one's senses between auditory, tactile, and visual senses before sleep and is often paired with a WBTB protocol (Aspy, 2020).

External stimulation techniques involve the use of external stimuli that are introduced during REM sleep. The external stimuli serve as a cue that one is dreaming. External stimuli can involve tactile, auditory, light, electro, or vestibular stimulation (Stumbrys et al., 2012). Many of the external stimulation techniques involve the use of consumer products designed for lucid dreaming induction (Stumbrys et al., 2012).

Miscellaneous techniques include using drugs and other exogenous substances to increase the likelihood of lucid dreaming and the WBTB technique. Galantamine and Donepezil are exogenous substances shown to increase lucid dreaming frequency (LaBerge, 2004; LaBerge et al., 2018). Both drugs are acetylcholinesterase inhibitors, used in the treatment of dementia (LaBerge et al., 2018). The drugs increase the synaptic transmission of acetylcholine. A neurotransmitter associated with focus (Bazzari, 2018). The WBTB technique involves waking oneself up before or during REM sleep and going back to sleep after 30-120 minutes with intention of becoming lucid during the next phase of sleep (Schredl, 2018a; Stumbrys et al., 2012).

A large-scale study of 355 participants interested in lucid dreaming measured combinations of lucid dreaming induction techniques (Aspy, 2020). The techniques were MILD, WBTB, SSILD, and RT. The study found practicing RT throughout the day did not increase lucid dreaming frequency. In addition, RT did not improve efficacy when paired with MILD and WBTB. A hybrid technique, pairing MILD with WBTB and SSIL with WBTB were both effective in inducing lucid dreams. The average lucid dreaming rate was 16.5% in the former and 16.9% in the latter. These results were in line with those of the National Australian Lucid Dream Induction study (Aspy et al., 2017). They also found lucid dreaming induction techniques were significantly more effective in participants who were able to fall asleep rapidly after engaging in the techniques (Aspy, 2020).

### **Potential Risks**

Lucid dreaming may pose a psychological risk. However, the potential risks are not clear. As studies on the relationship between lucid dreaming and psychological disorders have generated conflicting conclusions. This is the case with depression (Soffer-Dudek et al., 2011; Taitz, 2011), PTSD (Harb et al., 2016; Heugten-van der Kloet et al., 2014), and general psychological distress (Soffer-Dudek et al., 2011; Soffer-Dudek & Shahar, 2009). It is thought that the lack of consistency in research findings may be the result of some researchers not differentiating between spontaneous or deliberate lucid dreams and not measuring specific qualities of lucid dreams (Aviram & Soffer-Dudek, 2018). Such as levels of dream awareness and control.

A study of university students taught to lucid dream found that lucid dreaming frequency was strongly related to symptoms of depression (Taitz, 2011). A longitudinal study found that experiencing lucid dreams characterized by high dream awareness and low dream control were associated with psychopathological symptoms (Aviram & Soffer-Dudek, 2018). The same study found deliberate induction of lucid dreaming predicted a future increase in dissociation and schizotypy. Another study found that participants who scored high on a lucid dreaming assessment were more prone to memory errors and confabulation (Corlett et al., 2014). Lucid dreaming may embolden hallucinations and deliria in psychotic individuals (Mota et al., 2016). Another potential risk of lucid dreaming is related to sleep quality. As WBTB-based induction techniques involve the fragmentation of sleep, disruption of sleep architecture, and potentially less sleep (Vallat & Ruby, 2019). There is some evidence that lucid dreaming has a deleterious effect of sleep quality (Gott et al., 2020). Another way lucid dreaming poses a risk to an individuals sleep quality is by changing brain activity during sleep (Vallat & Ruby, 2019). As neuroimaging studies have shown increased activity in areas of the brain normally depressed during sleep (Dresler et al., 2012; Hobson & Pace-Schott, 2002; Voss et al., 2009). There are concerns that regular lucid dreaming could disrupt the regular functioning of these areas.

### Lucid Dreaming Therapy

LDT involves deliberately inducing lucid dreaming for the purpose of treating a psychological condition (Mota-Rolim & Araujo, 2013). LDT has been studied in the context of treating insomnia (Ellis et al., 2021) and nightmares (de Macêdo et al., 2019). LDT has also been suggested as a potential treatment for narcolepsy (Schiappa et al., 2018). LDT typically involves psychoeducation related to lucid dreaming, imagining constructive alternative endings to nightmares, and instruction on how to induce lucid dreaming at home. There are currently eleven studies of LDT in the treatment of nightmares. They will be presented in chronological order.

The first study related to LDT as a treatment for nightmares was a case report study conducted in 1982 (Halliday, 1982). The participant experienced PT-N following an industrial accident. They were taught about lucid dreaming and as a result were able to alter the content of their nightmares to something emotionally neutral. This was followed by two more case report studies (Abramovitch, 1995; Brylowski, 1990). The first involved a woman in psychiatric care (Brylowski, 1990). The intervention involved a protocol of MILD, use of a dream diary, and lucid dreaming psychoeducation. The study found that LDT was effective in reducing nightmare distress (Brylowski, 1990). The second study involved a participant with ND who experienced nightmares related to going home (Abramovitch, 1995). The study does not provide details related to the nature of the LDT. LDT was effective in changing the content of the nightmare.

This was followed by a study of five case reports (Zadra & Pihl, 1997). All five participants experienced frequent nightmares. Three of the participants experienced the onset of nightmares following a traumatic event. The participants were first taught progressive muscle relaxation. Then they were asked to imagine in detail the content of their nightmare with a therapist. The participants were then instructed to select a salient and recurrent aspect of their dream, in which they will perform a specific task while telling themselves they are dreaming. They are instructed to then engage in this task while dreaming, with the intention of inducing lucidity. The therapist also worked with the participants to identify constructive alternatives endings to the nightmare. Three of the participants successfully induced lucid dreaming and nightmare distress and frequency was reduced in all five participants.

Another study was conducted with eight participants suffering from I-N (Spoormaker et al., 2003). Participants worked with the researcher to identify recurrent elements from their nightmares, were provided psychoeducation on lucid dreaming, and conducted a single 1-hour session of lucid dreaming induction training. Participants were instructed to go to bed with the intention that the next time they observe the recurrent theme to remind themselves that they are dreaming and to become lucid. Lucid dreaming was successfully induced in half of the participants. LDT was successful in reducing nightmare frequency and distress in six of the participants.

The next study was a single case report of an individual suffering from I-N for the past 17 years (Tanner, 2004). Treatment involved the participant maintaining a dream diary, instruction

on diaphragmatic breathing, and the use of MILD prior to falling asleep. The client reported not having successfully induced lucid dreaming but did experience a reduction in nightmare frequency and distress, and improved sleep quality.

This was followed by a cross-sectional design study. The first RCT assessing the efficacy of LDT in the treatment of nightmares (Spoormaker & van den Bout, 2006). The study was made up of 23 nightmare sufferers. Thirteen of the participants had previously experienced a traumatic event, four experienced PT-N, and one had been diagnosed with PTSD. The participants were randomly assigned to a two-hour single session individual lucid dreaming therapy group, a two-hour single session group lucid dreaming therapy group, and a waitlist control group. The procedure for both experiment groups involved psychoeducation related to nightmares and lucid dreaming, the identification of recurrent nightmare content/themes, instruction that before bed they would intend to become lucid when they observe this recurrent content/theme. They were also instructed to imagine this recurrent theme/content while thinking that they are dreaming. Participants discussed and identified alternative endings to their nightmare scenario. The author described how the imaginal and rescripting component of the LDT treatment is like that of IRT. Seven of the 8 participants in the individual LDT group experienced a reduction in nightmare frequency. With four participants becoming lucid and successfully altering the nightmare. Four of the 8 participants who received group LDT experienced a reduction in nightmares. Two were able to alter the nightmare during lucid dreaming.

Another case report study was conducted with a man in emergency care following multiple suicide attempts, who had a history of PTSD (Been & Garg, 2010). The participant was instructed to read the Wikipedia entry on lucid dreaming and to write out the details of his

nightmare upon awakening and imagine himself altering the dream as he attempts to fall back to sleep. After several days, the participant was able to become lucid and alter his nightmares to something more pleasant. Client reported decreased nightmare distress and improved sleep quality.

The next study was an RCT, comparing the efficacy of self-administered IRT, IRT with sleep hygiene, IRT with sleep hygiene and LDT, and a waitlist control (Lancee, Bout, et al., 2010). The study had 213 participants who reported experiencing nightmares. The exclusion criteria included scoring high in PTSD, schizophrenia, and suicidal ideation. The LDT group underwent self-administered IRT and sleep hygiene protocols. They were also instructed to imagine the nightmare content while thinking this is only a dream with the intention of inducing lucidity the next time they are dreaming. The study found that IRT alone was the most effective in reducing nightmare frequency and that IRT paired with LDT was slightly more effective in reducing nightmare distress than IRT alone. The authors stated that the self-administered mechanism of training in lucid dreaming is likely insufficient and that future research in LDT should be conducted face-to-face.

The next study was an RCT comparing the efficacy of gestalt therapy (GT) and GT with LDT (GT+LDT) (Holzinger et al., 2015). Thirty-two participants completed the study. The participants were reported as meeting the ICSD-2 criteria for ND. However, they did not assess for PTSD or nightmare onset following a traumatic event. The GT group underwent nine weeks of group GT. The GT intervention involved confrontation of the frightening dream content during group therapy, changing the dream plot (re-scripting), and emotionally processing the dreams. The GT+LDT group underwent the same protocol with the addition of lucid dreaming training, consisting of lucid dreaming psychoeducation, imagining the content and themes of the

nightmare, keeping a dream diary, identifying constructive alternatives to the nightmare ending, and listening to a lucid dreaming induction hypnosis recording. The study found both groups were effective in reducing nightmare frequency and participants in the GT+LDT group self-reported the therapy as more effective than those in the GT group. Seventy-five percent of participants in the GT+LDT group reported successfully inducing lucid dreaming. Measure of nightmare distress were not taken.

The final study was an RCT assessing the efficacy of LDT in the treatment of PT-N (Holzinger et al., 2020). Thirty-one participants completed the study. Participants were randomly assigned to a LDT group or an active comparison group. The LDT group engaged in six, weekly 60-minute group therapy sessions. Half of the session was spent discussing the participants experience related to dreams, sleep, and lucid dreaming from the past week. The other half of the session was spent on theoretical and practical training in lucid dreaming induction. The lucid dreaming induction method was employed in the study was self-hypnosis. The only statistically significant result measured in the LDT group was a reduction in anxiety and depressive symptoms. There were no improvements in nightmare frequency, sleep quality, or PTSD symptoms. Of the 20 participants in the LDT group who completed the study only two reported successfully inducing lucid dreaming.

#### Discussion

It is clear that nightmares are associated with more severe symptomology in a variety of psychological disorders and increased risk of suicidality (Agargun et al., 2003; Hedström et al., 2021; Levin & Fireman, 2002; Levin & Nielsen, 2007; Mume, 2009; Sandman et al., 2017; Semiz et al., 2008). As such, improving our understanding of how to treat nightmares is of great importance. One such treatment is LDT. It is the only treatment for nightmares that has the

individual actively change the nightmare content while dreaming. As such it has the added benefit of increase the sense of self-efficacy and agency in nightmare sufferers who successfully induce lucidity and alter the nightmare (Spoormaker & van den Bout, 2006). This could be particularly powerful in individual's experiencing PT-N. As hopelessness, defeat and entrapment are common features of PTSD and play a mediating role between nightmares and suicide in individuals with PTSD (Littlewood et al., 2016). The therapeutic mechanism in LDT remains unclear, as some participants will report improvements without ever experiencing lucid dreaming. It is thought that knowing it is possible to control one's dreams provides a belief/placebo effect (Spoormaker et al., 2003). It is possible that some of the benefit derived from LDT stems from the exposure component of imagining nightmare content and/or the rescripting of the dream.

Most of the studies use MILD as a means of inducing lucid dreaming. However, there is little evidence that MILD is an effective way of inducing LD without it being paired to a WBTB protocol (Aspy, 2020; Aspy et al., 2017). A potential challenge of using LDT in the treatment of nightmares is that lucid dreaming induction techniques are more effective in those who are able to fall asleep shortly after engaging in the technique (Aspy, 2020) and nightmare sufferers experience longer than average sleep latency (Paul et al., 2015).

#### **Clinical Implications**

As research has shown that clients are unlikely to bring up the presence of nightmares with their healthcare provider (Nadorff et al., 2015) and that the presence of nightmares is a unique predictor of suicidality (Bernert et al., 2015), it is imperative that clinicians screen for nightmares as part of their client intake. When a clinician is working with a client who is experiencing I-N or PT-N, they will need to assess which treatment is appropriate for their client. Based on the review of the available evidence LDT can be considered an effective treatment for I-N. This position is in line with that of the AASM (Morgenthaler et al., 2018). However, IRT is the treatment for both I-N and PT-N with the strongest empirical support (Morgenthaler et al., 2018).

One of the ethical considerations for clinicians considering treating a client's nightmares with LDT is the potential for sleep disruption. As the most effective cognitive techniques for inducing lucid dreams involve a hybrid approach with WBTB (Aspy, 2020; Aspy et al., 2017). Given the importance of sleep in healthy psychological function (Scott et al., 2021) and the sleep challenges presented by frequent nightmares, it does not seem prudent for clinicians to encourage a LD induction technique that involves waking oneself up during the night and disrupting ones sleep. Given that nightmares often trigger lucidity (Stumbrys, 2018), a clinician could encourage the client to alter dream content if they find themselves spontaneously lucid. This approach could be paired well with IRT.

In terms of treating I-N, there are several reasons why a clinician may opt to use LDT. If the client has trouble with imagining vivid mental imagery, then a mental imagery heavy approach such as IRT and ERRT may not be appropriate. Research has shown that the capacity to generate vivid mental imagery varies across individuals (Isaac & Marks, 1994). It may be appropriate to use LDT with a client experiencing I-N if the client had a previous interest in lucid dreaming or if they have a desire to actively confront the fearful aspects of their dreams. Another context in which LDT may be an appropriate approach for treating I-N is if a client finds themselves spontaneously lucid during their nightmares.

In terms of treating PT-N with LDT, there should be a higher degree of caution on the part of the clinician. For one, the reported distress and risk of suicide is higher among individuals

experiencing PT-N than I-N. And we have stronger support for the efficacy of IRT in treating PT-N. Another element that should give clinicians pause is that PT-N are equally likely to occur to NREM and REM sleep and little is known about inducing LD during NREM (Stumbrys & Erlacher, 2012). The presence of trauma re-enactments in PT-N makes LDT an intervention with unique risk and potential. As the therapeutic benefit of LDT is centered around the client changing the nightmare content/narrative. Unlike the IRT and ERRT, in which the client imagines a nightmare alternative and hopes that through repeated exposure to the alternative it will replace the original nightmare, LDT emphasizes the client actively changing the dream. In the case of PT-N, the clinician needs to determine whether the client is ready to confront and change the nightmare content. Which could be a re-enactment of an assault or rape.

Studies also show that the majority of lucid dreams lack the ability to control dream content (Aviram & Soffer-Dudek, 2018; Harb et al., 2016; Voss et al., 2012). As such, an individual experiencing a lucid PT-N could experience a high degree of awareness, without the ability to change the nightmare content. Research into lucid nightmares has shown that an inability to change the nightmare or wake oneself up are both common features (Stumbrys, 2018). Lucid dreams with high awareness and no control led to increased rates of psychopathology (Aviram & Soffer-Dudek, 2018). It is also possible for pain experienced during lucid dreaming to be carried over into wakefulness (Raduga et al., 2020). Given that deliberate lucid dreaming induction predicted future dissociation (Aviram & Soffer-Dudek, 2018), a common symptom of PTSD (Rintamaki et al., 2009), clinicians should be mindful that LDT could exacerbate this.

With these risks in mind, there does appear to be potential unique benefits of LDT in treating PT-N. A perspective on trauma recovery and fear extinction suggests that deliberate

exposure to the stressor is insufficient for fear extinction and that novel meanings/narratives need to be associated with the fearful/traumatic event (Dunsmoor et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2020). As such, LDT has the potential of the client actively changing the narrative associated with the traumatic event. A potentially fruitful application of LDT in the treatment of PT-N could be to engage in prolonged exposure therapy or cognitive processing with the client until the trauma memory no longer elicits arousal. This could then be followed by a LDT protocol in which the participant attempts to alter the PT-N during lucid dreaming. Thereby attaching novel associations to the trauma memory.

### **Limitations & Future Research**

While research into the use of lucid dreaming as a treatment for nightmares goes back forty years, there are still major gaps in our understanding. This is particularly true when attempting to assess the efficacy of LDT in the treatment of I-N and PT-N as separate phenomena. This is because much of the research does not assess whether their participants had experienced trauma, and if they did assess this, did not assess whether the onset of the nightmares followed the trauma or whether the nightmares contain trauma related imagery or themes. Research in LDT, and lucid dreaming more generally, rarely specify characteristics of the lucid dream. As a result, we are left without an understanding of whether the participant simply became aware that they were dreaming, the minimum criteria for lucid dreaming, or whether they experienced dream control. Another challenge in assessing the efficacy of LDT is the lack of standardization in LDT across studies. With the method of lucid dream induction and duration of treatment varying substantially.

Research on lucid dreaming often fails to delineate whether participants experience spontaneous or deliberate lucid dreams. Future research on lucid dreamers should make this variable clear. Future research into the lucid dreaming as a therapeutic modality should also make clear the potential risks associated with the practice. Another potential fruitful area for future study would be assessing the efficacy of LDT for PT-N in the context of different stages of trauma recovery.

### Conclusion

The prevalence of frequent nightmares in clinical populations and their under-reporting creates an impetus for researchers and clinicians to develop our understanding of how to treat them. Lucid dreaming therapy serves as one such treatment, providing nightmare sufferers with the potential to actively change the content of their nightmares. Given the differences between I-N and PT-N, it is important that we continue to develop our understanding of how different treatments ameliorate each phenomenon. LDT has been demonstrated to be an effective treatment for both I-N and PT-N. Though questions remain whether it is the most effective or appropriate treatment. Variables such as capacity for lucid dreaming induction, risks associated with lucid dreaming, sleep disruption, and stages of trauma recovery all need to be considered when assessing the appropriateness for LDT in the treatment of nightmares.

#### References

Abramovitch, H. (1995). The nightmare of returning home: A case of acute onset nightmare disorder treated by lucid dreaming. *The Israel Journal of Psychiatry and Related Sciences*, *32*(2), 140–145.

Agargun, M. Y., Besiroglu, L., Cilli, A. S., Gulec, M., Aydin, A., Inci, R., & Selvi, Y. (2007). Nightmares, suicide attempts, and melancholic features in patients with unipolar major depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 98(3), 267–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2006.08.005

Ağargün, M. Y., Çilli, A. S., Kara, H., Tarhan, N., Kincir, F., & Öz, H. (1998). Repetitive and frightening dreams and suicidal behavior in patients with major depression. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *39*(4), 198–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0010-440X(98)90060-8

- Agargun, M. Y., Kara, H., Özer, Ö. A., Selvi, Y., Kiran, Ü., & Özer, B. (2003). Clinical importance of nightmare disorder in patients with dissociative disorders. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 57(6), 575–579. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1819.2003.01169.x
- Alexandru, B. V., Róbert, B., Viorel, L., & Vasile, B. (2009). Treating primary insomnia: A comparative study of self-help methods and progressive muscle relaxation. *Journal of Cognitive & Behavioral Psychotherapies*, 9(1), 67–82.

American Academy of Sleep Medicine. (2015). *The international classification of sleep disorders: Diagnostic and coding manual.* American Academy of Sleep Medicine.

American Psychiatric Association. (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed.).

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013a). *Desk Reference to the Diagnostic Criteria from DSM-5*. American Psychiatric Association.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013b). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.).
- Aspy, D. J. (2020). Findings from the international lucid dream induction study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01746
- Aspy, D. J., Delfabbro, P., Proeve, M., & Mohr, P. (2017). Reality testing and the mnemonic induction of lucid dreams: Findings from the national Australian lucid dream induction study. *Dreaming*, 27(3), 206–231. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/drm0000059
- Aurora, R. N., Zak, R. S., Auerbach, S. H., Casey, K. R., Chowdhuri, S., Karippot, A., Maganti, R. K., Ramar, K., Kristo, D. A., Bista, S. R., Lamm, C. I., & Morgenthaler, T. I. (2010).
  Best practice guide for the treatment of nightmare disorder in adults. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine : JCSM : Official Publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine*, 6(4), 389–401.
- Aviram, L., & Soffer-Dudek, N. (2018). Lucid dreaming: Intensity, but not frequency, is inversely related to psychopathology. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 384–384. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00384
- Baylor, G. W., & Cavallero, C. (2001). Memory sources associated with REM and NREM dream reports throughout the night: A new look at the data. *Sleep (New York, N.Y.)*, 24(2), 165– 170. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/24.2.165
- Bazzari, F. (2018). Can we induce lucid dreams? A pharmacological point of view. *International Journal of Dream Research*, *11*, 106–119. https://doi.org/10.11588/ijodr.2018.2.42462

- Been, G., & Garg, V. (2010). Nightmares in the context of PTSD treated with psychoeducation regarding lucid dreaming. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 44(6), 583–583. https://doi.org/10.1080/00048671003614213
- Bernert, R. A., Kim, J. S., Iwata, N. G., & Perlis, M. L. (2015). Sleep disturbances as an evidence-based suicide risk factor. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 17(3), 15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-015-0554-4
- Besiroglu, L., Agargun, M. Y., & Inci, R. (2005). Nightmares and terminal insomnia in depressed patients with and without melancholic features. *Psychiatry Research*, 133(2), 285–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2004.12.001
- Blagrove, M., & Hartnell, S. J. (2000). Lucid dreaming: Associations with internal locus of control, need for cognition and creativity. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 28(1), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(99)00078-1
- Boehnlein, J. K., & Kinzie, J. D. (2007). Pharmacologic reduction of CNS noradrenergic activity in PTSD: The case for clonidine and prazosin. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice*, *13*(2), 72– 78. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.pra.0000265763.79753.c1
- Bourke, P., & Shaw, H. (2014). Spontaneous lucid dreaming frequency and waking insight. *Dreaming*, 24(2), 152–159.
- Boynton, L., Bentley, J., Strachan, E., Barbato, A., & Raskind, M. (2009). Preliminary findings concerning the use of prazosin for the treatment of posttraumatic nightmares in a refugee population. *Journal of Psychiatric Practice*, *15*(6), 454–459.
  https://doi.org/10.1097/01.pra.0000364287.63210.92

- Brylowski, A. (1990). Nightmares in crisis: Clinical applications of lucid dreaming techniques. Psychiatric Journal of the University of Ottawa: Revue De Psychiatrie De l'Universite d'Ottawa, 15(2), 79–84.
- Casement, M. D., & Swanson, L. M. (2012). A meta-analysis of imagery rehearsal for posttrauma nightmares: Effects on nightmare frequency, sleep quality, and posttraumatic stress. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 32(6), 566–574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.06.002
- Claridge, G., Davis, C., Bellhouse, M., & Kaptein, S. (1998). Borderline personality, nightmares, and adverse life events in the risk for eating disorders. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 25(2), 339–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(98)00052-X
- Cogan, C. M., Lee, J. Y., Cranston, C. C., Pruiksma, K. E., Rhudy, J. L., & Davis, J. L. (2019). The impact of exposure, relaxation, and rescripting therapy for post-trauma nightmares on suicidal ideation. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 75(12), 2095–2105. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22852
- Coolidge, F. L., Segal, D. L., Coolidge, C. M., Spinath, F. M., & Gottschling, J. (2010). Do nightmares and generalized anxiety disorder in childhood and adolescence have a common genetic origin? *Behavior Genetics*, 40(3), 349–356.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s10519-009-9310-z
- Corlett, P. R., Canavan, S. V., Nahum, L., Appah, F., & Morgan, P. T. (2014). Dreams, reality and memory: Confabulations in lucid dreamers implicate reality-monitoring dysfunction in dream consciousness. *Cognitive Neuropsychiatry*, 19(6), 540–553. https://doi.org/10.1080/13546805.2014.932685

- Cranston, C. C., Davis, J. L., Rhudy, J. L., & Favorite, T. K. (2011). Replication and expansion of "best practice guide for the treatment of nightmare disorder in adults." *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine : JCSM : Official Publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine*, 7(5), 549–553. https://doi.org/10.5664/JCSM.1330
- Daly, C. M., Doyle, M. E., Radkind, M., Raskind, E., & Daniels, C. (2005). Clinical case series: The use of prazosin for combat-related recurrent nightmares among Operation Iraqi
  Freedom combat veterans. *Military Medicine*, *170*(6), 513–515.
  https://doi.org/10.7205/MILMED.170.6.513
- Davis, J. L., Rhudy, J. L., Pruiksma, K. E., Byrd, P., Williams, A. E., McCabe, K. M., & Bartley, E. J. (2011). Physiological predictors of response to exposure, relaxation, and rescripting therapy for chronic nightmares in a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine: Official Publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine*, 7(6), 622–631. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.1466
- Davis, J. L., & Wright, D. C. (2007). Randomized clinical trial for treatment of chronic nightmares in trauma-exposed adults. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 20(2), 123–133. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20199
- de Macêdo, T. C. F., Ferreira, G. H., de Almondes, K. M., Kirov, R., & Mota-Rolim, S. A.
  (2019). My dream, my rules: Can lucid dreaming treat nightmares? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02618
- Dodet, P., Chavez, M., Leu-Semenescu, S., Golmard, J.-L., & Arnulf, I. (2015). Lucid dreaming in narcolepsy. *Sleep (New York, N.Y.)*, *38*(3), 487–497. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.4516

- Domhoff, B., & Kamiya, J. (1964). Problems in dream content study with objective indicators: A comparison of home and laboratory dream reports. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 11(5), 519–524. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1964.01720290067008
- Donatone, B. (2006). Hypnotic imagery rehearsal in the treatment of nightmares: A case report. *American Journal of Clinical Hypnosis*, 49(2), 123–127. https://doi.org/10.1080/00029157.2006.10401564
- Dresler, M., Wehrle, R., Spoormaker, V. I., Koch, S. P., Holsboer, F., Steiger, A., Obrig, H., Sämann, P. G., & Czisch, M. (2012). Neural correlates of dream lucidity obtained from contrasting lucid versus non-lucid REM sleep: A combined EEG/fMRI case study. *Sleep*, 35(7), 1017–1020. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.1974
- Dunsmoor, J. E., Campese, V. D., Ceceli, A. O., LeDoux, J. E., & Phelps, E. A. (2015). Noveltyfacilitated extinction: Providing a novel outcome in place of an expected threat diminishes recovery of defensive responses. *Biological Psychiatry*, 78(3), 203–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.12.008
- Dyck, S., Schredl, M., & Kühnel, A. (2017). Lucid dream induction using three different cognitive methods. *International Journal of Dream Research*, 151–156. https://doi.org/10.11588/ijodr.2017.2.37498
- Ellingsen, P. A. (1983). Double-blind trial of triazolam 0.5 mg vs. nitrazepam 5 mg in outpatients. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 67(3), 154–158. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb00336.x
- Ellis, J. G., De Koninck, J., & Bastien, C. H. (2021). Managing insomnia using lucid dreaming training: A pilot study. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 19(2), 273–283. https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2020.1739688

Ennis, C. R., Short, N. A., Moltisanti, A. J., Smith, C. E., Joiner, T. E., & Taylor, J. (2017).
 Nightmares and nonsuicidal self-injury: The mediating role of emotional dysregulation.
 *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 76, 104–112.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2017.04.003

- Erlacher, D., & Schredl, M. (2010). Practicing a motor task in a lucid dream enhances subsequent performance: A pilot study. *Sport Psychologist*, *24*(2), 157–167.
- Filevich, E., sler, M., Brick, T. R., & Kuhn, S. (2015). Metacognitive mechanisms underlying lucid dreaming. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(3), 1082–1088. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3342-14.2015
- Fisher, C., Byrne, J., Edwards, A., & Kahn, E. (1970). A psychophysiological study of nightmares. *Journal of the American Psychoanalytic Association*, 18(4), 747–782. https://doi.org/10.1177/000306517001800401
- Fisher, H. L., Lereya, S. T., Thompson, A., Lewis, G., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2014).
  Childhood parasomnias and psychotic experiences at age 12 years in a United Kingdom birth cohort. *Sleep*, *37*(3), 475–482. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.3478
- Gackenbach, J. (2010). Psychological considerations in pursuing lucid dreaming research. International Journal of Dream Research; Vol 3, No 1 (April 2010); 11-12. https://doi.org/10.11588/ijodr.2010.1.589
- Germain, A., & Nielsen, T. A. (2003). Sleep pathophysiology in posttraumatic stress disorder and idiopathic nightmare sufferers. *Biological Psychiatry*, 54(10), 1092–1098. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00071-4
- Germain, A., Richardson, R., Moul, D. E., Mammen, O., Haas, G., Forman, S. D., Rode, N., Begley, A., & Nofzinger, E. A. (2012). Placebo-controlled comparison of prazosin and

cognitive-behavioral treatments for sleep disturbances in US Military Veterans. *Journal* of Psychosomatic Research, 72(2), 89–96.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2011.11.010

- Gieselmann, A., Ait Aoudia, M., Carr, M., Germain, A., Gorzka, R., Holzinger, B., Kleim, B.,
  Krakow, B., Kunze, A. E., Lancee, J., Nadorff, M. R., Nielsen, T., Riemann, D., Sandahl,
  H., Schlarb, A. A., Schmid, C., Schredl, M., Spoormaker, V. I., Steil, R., ... Pietrowsky,
  R. (2019). Aetiology and treatment of nightmare disorder: State of the art and future
  perspectives. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 28(4), e12820. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12820
- Gott, J., Rak, M., Bovy, L., Peters, E., van Hooijdonk, C. F. M., Mangiaruga, A.,
  Varatheeswaran, R., Chaabou, M., Gorman, L., Wilson, S., Weber, F., Talamini, L.,
  Steiger, A., & Dresler, M. (2020). Sleep fragmentation and lucid dreaming. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 84, 102988. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2020.102988
- Greenberg, R., Pearlman, C., & Gampel, D. (2017). War neuroses and the adaptive function of REM sleep. *British Journal of Medical Psychology*, *45*(1), 27–33.
- Halliday, G. (1982). Direct alteration of a traumatic nightmare. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 54(2), 413–414. https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1982.54.2.413
- Harb, G. C., Brownlow, J. A., & Ross, R. J. (2016). Posttraumatic nightmares and imagery rehearsal: The possible role of lucid dreaming. *Dreaming*, 26(3), 238–249. https://doi.org/10.1037/drm0000030
- Harb, G. C., Thompson, R., Ross, R. J., & Cook, J. M. (2012). Combat-related PTSD nightmares and imagery rehearsal: Nightmare characteristics and relation to treatment outcome. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 25(5), 511–518. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jts.21748

- Hartmann, E. (1984). *The nightmare: The psychology and biology of terrifying dreams*. Basic Book.
- Hartmann, E. (1996). Outline for a theory on the nature and functions of dreaming. *Dreaming*, 6(2), 147–170. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0094452
- Hasler, B., & Germain, A. (2009). Correlates and treatments of nightmares in adults. *Sleep Medicine Clinics*, 4(4), 507–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsmc.2009.07.012
- Hauri, P. J., Silber, M. H., & Boeve, B. F. (2007). The treatment of parasomnias with hypnosis:
  A 5-year follow-up study. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine: Official Publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine*, 3(4), 369–373.
- Hearne, K. M. T. (1978). Lucid dreams: An electrophysiological and psychological study [Dissertation, University of Liverpool]. https://www.keithhearne.com/wpcontent/uploads/2014/12/Lucid-Dreams-LQ.pdf
- Hedström, A. K., Bellocco, R., Hössjer, O., Ye, W., Trolle Lagerros, Y., & Åkerstedt, T. (2021). The relationship between nightmares, depression and suicide. *Sleep Medicine*, 77, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sleep.2020.11.018
- Hess, G., Schredl, M., & Goritz, A. S. (2017). Lucid dreaming frequency and the big five personality factors. *Imagination, Cognition and Personality*, 36(3), 240–253. https://doi.org/10.1177/0276236616648653
- Heugten-van der Kloet, D., Huntjens, R., Giesbrecht, T., & Merckelbach, H. (2014). Self-reported sleep disturbances in patients with dissociative identity disorder and post-traumatic stress disorder and how they relate to cognitive failures and fantasy proneness. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 5.

- Hinton, D. E., Hinton, A. L., Pich, V., Loeum, J. R., & Pollack, M. H. (2009). Nightmares among Cambodian refugees: The breaching of concentric ontological security. *Culture, Medicine, and Psychiatry*, 33(2), 219–265. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11013-009-9131-9
- Hobson, J. A., & Pace-Schott, E. F. (2002). The cognitive neuroscience of sleep: Neuronal systems, consciousness and learning. *Nature Reviews. Neuroscience*, 3(9), 679–693. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrn915
- Holzinger, B., Klösch, G., & Saletu, B. (2015). Studies with lucid dreaming as add-on therapy to Gestalt therapy. Acta Neurologica Scandinavica, 131(6), 355–363. https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.12362
- Holzinger, B., Saletu, B., & Klösch, G. (2020). Cognitions in sleep: Lucid dreaming as an intervention for nightmares in patients with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01826
- Hoss, R. J., Valli, K., & Gongloff, R. P. (2019). *Dreams: Understanding biology, psychology, and culture [2 Volumes]*. ABC-CLIO, LLC.

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/ottawa/detail.action?docID=5630921

- Hossain, M. M., Tasnim, S., Sultana, A., Faizah, F., Mazumder, H., Zou, L., McKyer, E. L. J.,
  Ahmed, H. U., & Ma, P. (2020). Epidemiology of mental health problems in COVID-19:
  A review. *F1000Research*, *9*, 636. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.24457.1
- Hublin, C., Kaprio, J., Partinen, M., & Koskenvuo, M. (1999). Nightmares: Familial aggregation and association with psychiatric disorders in a nationwide twin cohort. *American Journal* of Medical Genetics, 88(4), 329–336. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-8628(19990820)88:4<329::AID-AJMG8>3.0.CO;2-E

- Isaac, A. R., & Marks, D. F. (1994). Individual differences in mental imagery experience: Developmental changes and specialization. *British Journal of Psychology (London, England: 1953)*, 85 (Pt 4), 479–500. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8295.1994.tb02536.x
- Jones, E. (1931). *On The Nightmare*. Leonard and Virginia Woolf. http://archive.org/details/onthenightmare032020mbp
- Jung, C. G. (2012). Dreams: (From Volumes 4, 8, 12, and 16 of the Collected Works of C. G. Jung). Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400839148
- Kennedy, K. E. R., & Grandner, M. A. (2021). Sleep, dreams, and nightmares during the COVID-19 pandemic. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 35(8), 1168–1173. https://doi.org/10.1177/08901171211055312
- Kilius, E., Abbas, N. H., McKinnon, L., & Samson, D. R. (2021). Pandemic nightmares:
   COVID-19 lockdown associated with increased aggression in female university students' dreams. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 644636. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.644636
- Kingsbury, S. J. (1993). Brief hypnotic treatment of repetitive nightmares. *American Journal of Clinical Hypnosis*, *35*(3), 161–169. https://doi.org/10.1080/00029157.1993.10403000
- Koffel, E., & Watson, D. (2009). Unusual sleep experiences, dissociation, and schizotypy:
  Evidence for a common domain. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 29(6), 548–559.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2009.06.004
- Köthe, M., & Pietrowsky, R. (2001). Behavioral effects of nightmares and their correlations to personality patterns. *Dreaming (New York, N.Y.)*, 11(1), 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009468517557
- Krakow, B., Hollifield, M., Johnston, L., Koss, M., Schrader, R., Warner, T. D., Tandberg, D., Lauriello, J., McBride, L., Cutchen, L., Cheng, D., Emmons, S., Germain, A., Melendrez,

D., Sandoval, D., & Prince, H. (2001). Imagery rehearsal therapy for chronic nightmares in sexual assault survivors with posttraumatic stress disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 286(5), 537–545.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.286.5.537

- Krakow, B., Hollifield, M., Schrader, R., Koss, M., Tandberg, D., Lauriello, J., McBride, L., Warner, T. D., Cheng, D., Edmond, T., & Kellner, R. (2000). A controlled study of imagery rehearsal for chronic nightmares in sexual assault survivors with PTSD: A preliminary report. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, *13*(4), 589–609. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007854015481
- Krakow, B. J., Melendrez, D. C., Johnston, L. G., Clark, J. O., Santana, E. M., Warner, T. D.,
  Hollifield, M. A., Schrader, R., & Lee, S. A. (2002). Sleep dynamic therapy for Cerro
  Grande Fire evacuees with posttraumatic stress symptoms: A preliminary report. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 63(8), 19707.
- Krakow, B., & Zadra, A. (2006). Clinical management of chronic nightmares: Imagery rehearsal therapy. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, 4(1), 45–70. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15402010bsm0401\_4
- Kramer, M. (1991). The nightmare: A failure in dream function. *Dreaming*, *1*(4), 277–285. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0094339

Kuan, T. (2007). Mindfulness in early Buddhism: New approaches through psychology and textual analysis of Pali, Chinese and Sanskrit sources. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203936146 Laberge, S. (1980). *Lucid dreaming: An exploratory study of consciousness during sleep* [Dissertation, Stanford University].

https://www.proquest.com/docview/303063091/abstract/625CB2A46F7A41FFPQ/1

Laberge, S. (1998). The origins and history of lucid dreaming. In *Lucid dreaming: The power of being awake and aware in your dreams*. Ballantine Books. https://media-01.imu.nl/storage/helderdromen.nl/667/wp/2015/04/Boek-lucide-dromen-engelstalig-Stephen-LaBerge-helder-dromen.pdf

LaBerge, S. (2004). *Substances that enhance recall and lucidity during dreaming* (United States Patent No. US20040266659A1).

https://patents.google.com/patent/US20040266659A1/en

LaBerge, S., LaMarca, K., & Baird, B. (2018). Pre-sleep treatment with galantamine stimulates lucid dreaming: A double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover study. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(8), e0201246. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201246

Lancee, J., Bout, J. van den, & Spoormaker, V. I. (2010). Expanding self-help imagery rehearsal therapy for nightmares with sleep hygiene and lucid dreaming: A waiting-list controlled trial. *International Journal of Dream Research*, 3(2), 111–120. https://doi.org/10.11588/ijodr.2010.2.6128

Lancee, J., Spoormaker, V. I., & Van Den Bout, J. (2010). Nightmare frequency is associated with subjective sleep quality but not with psychopathology. *Sleep and Biological Rhythms*, 8(3), 187–193. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1479-8425.2010.00447.x

Lansky, M. R. (1995). Posttraumatic nightmares: Psychodynamic explorations. Analytic Press.

- Lee, R., & Suh, S. (2016). Nightmare distress as a mediator between nightmare frequency and suicidal ideation. *Dreaming*, 26(4), 308–318. http://dx.doi.org.proxy.bib.uottawa.ca/10.1037/drm0000039
- Levin, R., & Fireman, G. (2002). Nightmare prevalence, nightmare distress, and self-reported psychological disturbance. *Sleep*, *25*(2), 205-212. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/25.2.205
- Levin, R., & Nielsen, T. A. (2007). Disturbed dreaming, posttraumatic stress disorder, and affect distress: A review and neurocognitive model. *Psychological Bulletin*, 133(3), 482–528. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.133.3.482
- Li, S. X., Zhang, B., Li, A. M., & Wing, Y. K. (2010). Prevalence and correlates of frequent nightmares: A community-based 2-phase study. *Sleep*, *33*(6), 774–780. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/33.6.774
- Littlewood, D. L., Gooding, P. A., Panagioti, M., & Kyle, S. D. (2016). Nightmares and suicide in posttraumatic stress disorder: The mediating role of defeat, entrapment, and hopelessness. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *12*(03), 393–399. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.5592
- Liu, K., Chen, Y., Wu, D., Lin, R., Wang, Z., & Pan, L. (2020). Effects of progressive muscle relaxation on anxiety and sleep quality in patients with COVID-19. *Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice*, 39, 101132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2020.101132
- Lu, M., Wagner, A., Van Male, L., Whitehead, A., & Boehnlein, J. (2009). Imagery rehearsal therapy for posttraumatic nightmares in U.S. veterans. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 22(3), 236–239. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20407

- Mellman, T. A., David, D., Bustamante, V., Torres, J., & Fins, A. (2001). Dreams in the acute aftermath of trauma and their relationship to PTSD. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 14(1), 241–247. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007812321136
- Mellman, T. A., & Pigeon, W. R. (2011). Dreams and nightmares in posttraumatic stress disorder. In *Principles and Practice of Sleep Medicine* (pp. 613–619). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4160-6645-3.00053-0
- Miller, W. R., & DiPilato, M. (1983). Treatment of nightmares via relaxation and desensitization: A controlled evaluation. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 51(6), 870–877. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.51.6.870
- Morgenthaler, T. I., Auerbach, S., Casey, K. R., Kristo, D., Maganti, R., Ramar, K., Zak, R., & Kartje, R. (2018). Position paper for the treatment of nightmare disorder in adults: An American Academy of Sleep Medicine position paper. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine : JCSM : Official Publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine*, 14(6), 1041–1055. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.7178
- Mota, N. B., Resende, A., Mota-Rolim, S. A., Copelli, M., & Ribeiro, S. (2016). Psychosis and the control of lucid dreaming. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 294–294. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00294
- Mota-Rolim, S. A., & Araujo, J. F. (2013). Neurobiology and clinical implications of lucid dreaming. *Medical Hypotheses*, 81(5), 751–756. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2013.04.049
- Mume, C. (2009). Nightmare in schizophrenic and depressed patients. *European Journal of Psychiatry*, 23(3), 177–183.

- Nadorff, M. R., Nadorff, D. K., & Germain, A. (2015). Nightmares: Under-reported, undetected, and therefore untreated. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, *11*(07), 747–750. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.4850
- Nadorff, M. R., Nazem, S., & Fiske, A. (2011). Insomnia symptoms, nightmares, and suicidal ideation in a college student sample. *Sleep*, *34*(1), 93–98. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/34.1.93
- Nadorff, M. R., Pearson, M. D., & Golding, S. (2016). Explaining the relation between nightmares and suicide. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine : JCSM : Official Publication* of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 12(3), 289–290. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.5564
- Nadorff, M. R., Porter, B., Rhoades, H. M., Greisinger, A. J., Kunik, M. E., & Stanley, M. A. (2014). Bad dream frequency in older adults with generalized anxiety disorder:
  Prevalence, correlates, and effect of cognitive behavioral treatment for anxiety. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine*, *12*(1), https://doi.org/10.1080/15402002.2012.755125
- Nielsen, T. A., Laberge, L., Paquet, J., Tremblay, R. E., Vitaro, F., & Montplaisir, J. (2000). Development of disturbing dreams during adolescence and their relation to anxiety symptoms. *Sleep*, 23(6), 727–736. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/23.6.1
- Nielsen, T., & Levin, R. (2007). Nightmares: A new neurocognitive model. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *11*(4), 295–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2007.03.004
- Nivard, M. G., Middeldorp, C. M., Dolan, C. V., & Boomsma, D. I. (2015). Genetic and environmental stability of neuroticism from adolescence to adulthood. *Twin Research* and Human Genetics, 18(6), 746–754. https://doi.org/10.1017/thg.2015.80

- Ohayon, M. M., & Shapiro, C. M. (2000). Sleep disturbances and psychiatric disorders associated with posttraumatic stress disorder in the general population. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 41(6), 469–478. https://doi.org/10.1053/comp.2000.16568
- Pagel, J. F. (2021). Imagery Rehearsal Therapy. In J. F. Pagel (Ed.), Post-traumatic stress disorder: A guide for primary care clinicians and therapists (pp. 107–114). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-55909-0\_13
- Pagel, J. F., Vann, B. H., & Altomare, C. A. (1995). Reported association of stress and dreaming: Community background levels and changes with disaster (Hurricane Iniki). *Dreaming*, 5(1), 43–50. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0094422
- Patrick, A., & Durndell, A. (2004). Lucid dreaming and personality: A replication. *Dreaming*, *14*(4), 234–239. https://doi.org/10.1037/1053-0797.14.4.234
- Paul, F., Schredl, M., & Alpers, G. W. (2015). Nightmares affect the experience of sleep quality but not sleep architecture: An ambulatory polysomnographic study. *Borderline Personality Disorder and Emotion Dysregulation*, 2(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40479-014-0023-4
- Pelling, N., & Gee, T. (2016). Hypnotic treatment of repeated childhood nightmares: A case honouring and utilizing religious beliefs in treatment. *Australian Journal of Clinical and Experimental Hypnosis*, 41(2), 159–173.
- Peskind, E. R., Bonner, L., Hoff, D. J., & Raskind, M. A. (2003). Prazosin reduces traumarelated nightmares in older men with chronic posttraumatic stress disorder. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol*, 165–171. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891988703256050
- Pesonen, A.-K., Lipsanen, J., Halonen, R., Elovainio, M., Sandman, N., Mäkelä, J.-M., Antila,M., Béchard, D., Ollila, H. M., & Kuula, L. (2020). Pandemic dreams: Network analysis

of dream content during the COVID-19 lockdown. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, 573961. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.573961

- Pruiksma, K. E., Cranston, C. C., Rhudy, J. L., Micol, R. L., & Davis, J. L. (2018). Randomized controlled trial to dismantle exposure, relaxation, and rescripting therapy (ERRT) for trauma-related nightmares. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, 10(1), 67–75. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/tra0000238
- R. Nadorff, M., Nazem, S., & Fiske, A. (2013). Insomnia symptoms, nightmares, and suicide risk: Duration of sleep disturbance matters. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, *43*(2), 139–149. https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12003
- Raduga, M., Zhunusova, Z., Shashkov, A., & Sevcenko, N. (2020). Achieving pain during lucid dreaming and transferring it into wakefulness. *Dreaming*, 30(3), 246–256. https://doi.org/10.1037/drm0000150
- Rak, M., Beitinger, P., Steiger, A., Schredl, M., & Dresler, M. (2015). Increased lucid dreaming frequency in narcolepsy. *Sleep*, 38(5), 787–792. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.4676
- Raskind, M. A., Dobie, D. J., Kanter, E. D., Petrie, E. C., & Peskind, E. R. (2000). The aladrenergic antagonist prazosin ameliorates combat trauma nightmares in Veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder: A report of 4 cases. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *61*(2), 507.
- Raskind, M. A., Peskind, E. R., Chow, B., Harris, C., Davis-Karim, A., Holmes, H. A., Hart, K. L., McFall, M., Mellman, T. A., Reist, C., Romesser, J., Rosenheck, R., Shih, M.-C., Stein, M. B., Swift, R., Gleason, T., Lu, Y., & Huang, G. D. (2018). Trial of Prazosin for post-traumatic stress disorder in military Veterans. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *378*(6), 507–517. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1507598

- Raskind, M. A., Peskind, E. R., Hoff, D. J., Hart, K. L., Holmes, H. A., Warren, D., Shofer, J., O'Connell, J., Taylor, F., Gross, C., Rohde, K., & McFall, M. E. (2007). A parallel group placebo controlled study of Prazosin for trauma nightmares and sleep disturbance in combat Veterans with post-traumatic stress disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, *61*(8), 928– 934. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.06.032
- Raskind, M. A., Peskind, E. R., Kanter, E. D., Petrie, E. C., Radant, A., Thompson, C. E., Dobie, D. J., Hoff, D., Rein, R. J., Straits-Tröster, K., Thomas, R. G., & McFall, M. M. (2003).
  Reduction of nightmares and other PTSD symptoms in combat Veterans by Prazosin: A placebo-controlled study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *160*(2), 371–373. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.160.2.371
- Raskind, M. A., Peterson, K., Williams, T., Hoff, D. J., Hart, K., Holmes, H., Homas, D., Hill, J., Daniels, C., Calohan, J., Millard, S. P., Rohde, K., O'Connell, J., Pritzl, D., Feiszli, K., Petrie, E. C., Gross, C., Mayer, C. L., Freed, M. C., ... Peskind, E. R. (2013). A trial of Prazosin for combat trauma PTSD with nightmares in active-duty soldiers returned from Iraq and Afghanistan. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *170*(9), 1003–1010. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.12081133
- Revonsuo, A. (2000). The reinterpretation of dreams: An evolutionary hypothesis of the function of dreaming. *The Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 23(6), 877–901. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X00004015
- Rintamaki, L. S., Weaver, F. M., Elbaum, P. L., Klama, E. N., & Miskevics, S. A. (2009). Persistence of traumatic memories in World War II Prisoners of War. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 57(12), 2257–2262. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02608.x

- Robert, G., & Zadra, A. (2014). Thematic and content analysis of idiopathic nightmares and bad dreams. *Sleep (New York, N.Y.)*, *37*(2), 409–417. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.3426
- Rosenzweig, I. (2018). Nightmare disorders. In H. Selsick (Ed.), *Sleep disorders in psychiatric patients: A practical guide* (pp. 277–292). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-54836-9\_15
- Ross, R., Ball, W., Sullivan, K., & Caroff, S. (1989). Sleep disturbance as the hallmark of posttraumatic stress disorder. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 146(697–707). https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.146.6.697
- Salomon, K., & Jin, A. (2020). Diathesis-stress model. In *Encyclopedia of behavioral medicine* (pp. 655–657). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-39903-0\_797
- Salvio, M.-A., Wood, J. M., Schwartz, J., & Eichling, P. S. (1992). Nightmare prevalence in the healthy elderly. *Psychology and Aging*, 7(2), 324–325. http://dx.doi.org.proxy.bib.uottawa.ca/10.1037/0882-7974.7.2.324
- Sandman, N., Valli, K., Kronholm, E., Ollila, H. M., Revonsuo, A., Laatikainen, T., & Paunio, T. (2013). Nightmares: Prevalence among the Finnish general adult population and war Veterans during 1972-2007. *Sleep*, *36*(7), 1041–1050. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.2806
- Sandman, N., Valli, K., Kronholm, E., Vartiainen, E., Laatikainen, T., & Paunio, T. (2017).
   Nightmares as predictors of suicide: An extension study including war Veterans.
   *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 44756. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep44756
- Saunders, D. T., Roe, C. A., Smith, G., & Clegg, H. (2016). Lucid dreaming incidence: A quality effects meta-analysis of 50 years of research. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 43, 197–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2016.06.002

Scarpelli, S., Alfonsi, V., Mangiaruga, A., Musetti, A., Quattropani, M. C., Lenzo, V., Freda, M.
F., Lemmo, D., Vegni, E., Borghi, L., Saita, E., Cattivelli, R., Castelnuovo, G., Plazzi, G.,
De Gennaro, L., & Franceschini, C. (2021). Pandemic nightmares: Effects on dream activity of the COVID-19 lockdown in Italy. *Journal of Sleep Research*, *30*(5), e13300.
https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.13300

Schädlich, M., & Erlacher, D. (2012). Applications of lucid dreams: An online study. *International Journal of Dream Research*, 5(2), 134–138. https://doi.org/10.11588/ijodr.2012.2.9505

- Schädlich, M., Erlacher, D., & Schredl, M. (2017). Improvement of darts performance following lucid dream practice depends on the number of distractions while rehearsing within the dream – a sleep laboratory pilot study. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 35(23), 2365–2372.
- Schiappa, C., Scarpelli, S., D'Atri, A., Gorgoni, M., & De Gennaro, L. (2018). Narcolepsy and emotional experience: A review of the literature. *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, *14*(1), 19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12993-018-0151-x
- Schooler, J. W. (2002). Re-representing consciousness: Dissociations between experience and meta-consciousness. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 6(8), 339–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(02)01949-6
- Schredl, M. (2010). Nightmares: An under-diagnosed and undertreated condition? *Sleep*, *33*(6), 733–734.
- Schredl, M. (2014). Explaining the gender difference in nightmare frequency. *The American Journal of Psychology*, *127*(2), 205–213. https://doi.org/10.5406/amerjpsyc.127.2.0205

Schredl, M. (2018a). Lucid Dreaming. In M. Schredl (Ed.), *Researching dreams: The fundamentals* (pp. 163–173). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-95453-0\_8

Schredl, M. (2018b). Nightmares. In *Researching dreams* (pp. 147–161). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-95453-0\_7

Schredl, M., Fricke-Oerkermann, L., Mitschke, A., Wiater, A., & Lehmkuhl, G. (2009).

Longitudinal study of nightmares in children: Stability and effect of emotional symptoms. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 40(3), 439–449.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-009-0136-y

- Schredl, M., & Göritz, A. S. (2017). Dream recall frequency, attitude toward dreams, and the big five personality factors. *Dreaming*, 27(1), 49–58. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/drm0000046
- Schredl, M., & Göritz, A. S. (2021). Nightmare frequency and feminine and masculine sex roles: An online survey. *Dreaming (New York, N.Y.)*, 31(2), 164–172. https://doi.org/10.1037/drm0000162
- Schredl, M., & Reinhard, I. (2008). Gender differences in dream recall: A meta-analysis. *Journal* of Sleep Research, 17(2), 125–131. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2869.2008.00626.x
- Schredl, M., & Reinhard, I. (2011). Gender differences in nightmare frequency: A meta-analysis. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *15*(2), 115–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2010.06.002
- Schreuder, B. J. N., Kleijn, W. Chr., & Rooijmans, H. G. M. (2000). Nocturnal re-experiencing more than forty years after war trauma. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 13(3), 453–463. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007733324351

- Schreuder, B. J. N., van Egmond, M., Kleijn, W. C., & Visser, A. T. (1998). Daily reports of posttraumatic nightmares and anxiety dreams in Dutch war victims. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 12(6), 511–524. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0887-6185(98)00032-2
- Scott, A. J., Webb, T. L., Martyn-St James, M., Rowse, G., & Weich, S. (2021). Improving sleep quality leads to better mental health: A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 60, 101556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2021.101556
- Seif, B. (1985). Clinical hypnosis and recurring nightmares: A case report. American Journal of Clinical Hypnosis, 27(3), 166–168. https://doi.org/10.1080/00029157.1985.10402598
- Selby, E. A., Ribeiro, J. D., & Joiner, T. E. (2013). What dreams may come: Emotional cascades and nightmares in borderline personality disorder. *Dreaming*, 23(2), 126–144. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0032208
- Semiz, U. B., Basoglu, C., Ebrinc, S., & Cetin, M. (2008). Nightmare disorder, dream anxiety, and subjective sleep quality in patients with borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatry* and Clinical Neurosciences, 62(1), 48–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1819.2007.01789.x
- Sheaves, B., Onwumere, J., Keen, N., Stahl, D., & Kuipers, E. (2015). Nightmares in patients with psychosis: The relation with sleep, psychotic, affective, and cognitive symptoms. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 60(8), 354–361.
- Silver, S. M., Brooks, A., & Obenchain, J. (1995). Treatment of Vietnam war veterans with PTSD: A comparison of eye movement desensitization and reprocessing, biofeedback, and relaxation training. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 8(2), 337–342. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.2490080212

- Simor, P., Horváth, K., Gombos, F., Takács, K. P., & Bódizs, R. (2012). Disturbed dreaming and sleep quality: Altered sleep architecture in subjects with frequent nightmares. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 262(8), 687–696. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-012-0318-7
- Singareddy, R., Krishnamurthy, V. B., Vgontzas, A. N., Fernandez-Mendoza, J., Calhoun, S. L., Shaffer, M. L., & Bixler, E. O. (2013). Subjective and objective sleep and self-harm behaviors in young children: A general population study. *Psychiatry Research*, 209(3), 549–553. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2013.03.036
- Sjöström, N., Hetta, J., & Waern, M. (2009). Persistent nightmares are associated with repeat suicide attempt: A prospective study. *Psychiatry Research*, 170(2), 208–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2008.09.006
- Sjöström, N., Wærn, M., & Hetta, J. (2007). Nightmares and sleep disturbances in relation to suicidality in suicide attempters. *Sleep*, 30(1), 91–95. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/30.1.91
- Soffer-Dudek, N., & Shahar, G. (2011). Daily stress interacts with trait dissociation to predict sleep-related experiences in young adults. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 120(3), 719– 729. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0022941
- Soffer-Dudek, N., & Shahar, G. (2009). What are sleep-related experiences? Associations with transliminality, psychological distress, and life stress. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 18(4), 891–904. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2008.07.007
- Spoormaker, V. I., Schredl, M., & Bout, J. van den. (2006). Nightmares: From anxiety symptom to sleep disorder. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, 10(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2005.06.001

- Spoormaker, V. I., & van den Bout, J. (2006). Lucid dreaming treatment for nightmares: A pilot study. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 75(6), 389–394.
- Spoormaker, V. I., van den Bout, J., & Meijer, E. J. G. (2003). Lucid dreaming treatment for nightmares: A series of cases. *Dreaming*, 13(3), 181–186. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1025325529560
- Steardo, L., de Filippis, R., Carbone, E. A., Segura-Garcia, C., Verkhratsky, A., & De Fazio, P.
   (2019). Sleep disturbance in bipolar disorder: Neuroglia and circadian Rhythms.
   *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10. https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00501
- Stumbrys, T. (2018). Lucid nightmares: A survey of their frequency, features, and factors in lucid dreamers. *Dreaming*, 28(3), 193–204. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/drm0000090

Stumbrys, T., & Erlacher, D. (2012). Lucid dreaming during NREM sleep: Two case reports. International Journal of Dream Research, 5, 151–155.

https://doi.org/10.11588/ijodr.2012.2.9483

- Stumbrys, T., & Erlacher, D. (2016). Applications of lucid dreams and their effects on the mood upon awakening. *International Journal of Dream Research*, 9(2), 146–150. https://doi.org/10.11588/ijodr.2016.2.33114
- Stumbrys, T., Erlacher, D., Johnson, M., & Schredl, M. (2014). The phenomenology of lucid dreaming: An online survey. *American Journal of Psychology*, 127(2), 191–205.
- Stumbrys, T., Erlacher, D., Schädlich, M., & Schredl, M. (2012). Induction of lucid dreams: A systematic review of evidence. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 21(3), 1456–1475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2012.07.003

- Stumbrys, T., Erlacher, D., & Schredl, M. (2016). Effectiveness of motor practice in lucid dreams: A comparison with physical and mental practice. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 34(1), 27–34.
- Swart, M. L., Van Schagen, A. M., Lancee, J., & Van Den Bout, J. (2013). Prevalence of nightmare disorder in psychiatric outpatients. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 82(4), 267–268. http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000343590
- Taitz, I. (2011). Learning lucid dreaming and its effect on depression in undergraduates. *International Journal of Dream Research*, 4(2), 117–126.
- Tanner, B. A. (2004). Multimodal behavioral treatment of nonrepetitive, treatment-resistant nightmares: A case report. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 99(3), 1139–1146. https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.99.3f.1139-1146
- Tanskanen, A., Tuomilehto, J., Viinamäki, H., Vartiainen, E., Lehtonen, J., & Puska, P. (2001). Nightmares as predictors of suicide. *Sleep*, 24(7), 845–848. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/24.7.845
- Taylor, F., & Raskind, M. A. (2002). The alpha1-adrenergic antagonist Prazosin improves sleep and nightmares in civilian trauma posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 22(1), 82-85.
- Vallat, R., & Ruby, P. M. (2019). Is it a good idea to cultivate lucid dreaming? *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*, 2585. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02585
- Voss, U., Frenzel, C., Koppehele-Gossel, J., & Hobson, A. (2012). Lucid dreaming: An agedependent brain dissociation. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 21(6), 634–642. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2869.2012.01022.x

- Voss, U., Holzmann, R., Tuin, I., & Hobson, J. A. (2009). Lucid dreaming: A state of consciousness with features of both waking and non-lucid dreaming. *Sleep*, 32(9), 1191– 1200. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/32.9.1191
- Vukasović, T., & Bratko, D. (2015). Heritability of personality: A meta-analysis of behavior genetic studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 141(4), 769–785. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/bul0000017
- Weisz, R., & Foulkes, D. (1970). Home and laboratory dreams collected under uniform sampling conditions. *Psychophysiology*, 6(5), 588–596. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.1970.tb02247.x
- Widiger, T. A., & Oltmanns, J. R. (2017). Neuroticism is a fundamental domain of personality with enormous public health implications. *World Psychiatry*, 16(2), 144–145. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20411
- Wittman, L., & de Dassel, T. (2015). Posttraumatic nightmares: From scientific evidence to clinical significance. In M. Kramer & M. L. Glucksman, *Dream research: Contributions to clinical practice*. Taylor & Francis Group.

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/ottawa/detail.action?docID=2038981

- Wittmann, L., Schredl, M., & Kramer, M. (2007). Dreaming in posttraumatic stress disorder: A critical review of phenomenology, psychophysiology and treatment. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, 76(1), 25–39. http://dx.doi.org/10.1159/000096362
- Woodward, S., & Arsenault, N. (2000). Polysomnographic characteristics of trauma-related nightmares. *Sleep*, *23*, 356–357.

- Woodward, S. H., Arsenault, N. J., Murray, C., & Bliwise, D. L. (2000). Laboratory sleep correlates of nightmare complaint in PTSD inpatients1. *Biological Psychiatry*, 48(11), 1081–1087. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3223(00)00917-3
- Yager, J. (2013). Prazosin for PTSD symptoms and nightmares in active-duty combat soldiers. Journal Watch. Psychiatry.

https://www.proquest.com/docview/1433028716/abstract/E068CCA46A7B430FPQ/1

- Zadra, A., & Donderi, D. C. (2000). Nightmares and bad dreams: Their prevalence and relationship to well-being. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 109(2), 273–281. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.109.2.273
- Zadra, A., & Pihl, R. (1997). Lucid dreaming as a treatment for recurrent nightmares. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *66*, 50–55. https://doi.org/10.1159/000289106
- Zhang, X., Kim, J., & Tonegawa, S. (2020). Amygdala reward neurons form and store fear extinction memory. *Neuron*, 105(6), 1077-1093. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.12.025